REPORT OF THE SPECIAL ADVISORY COMMISSION ON MANDATED HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS

MANDATED COVERAGE FOR HABILITATIVE SERVICES FOR CHILDREN WITH DEVELOPMENTAL DELAYS House Bill 657

TO THE GOVERNOR AND THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF VIRGINIA

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA RICHMOND 2007

January 8, 2007

To: The Honorable Timothy M. Kaine Governor of Virginia and The General Assembly of Virginia

The report contained herein has been prepared pursuant to §2.2-2504 and § 2.2-2505 of the Code of Virginia.

This report documents a study conducted by the Special Advisory Commission on Mandated Health Insurance Benefits to assess the social and financial impact and the medical efficacy of House Bill 657 regarding coverage for habilitative services for children under age 19 with developmental delays.

Respectfully submitted,

R. Lee Ware Chairman Special Advisory Commission on Mandated Health Insurance Benefits

SPECIAL ADVISORY COMMISSION ON MANDATED HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS

R. Lee Ware, Chairman Harry B. Blevins, Vice Chairman

Kathy J. Byron H. Russell Potts, Jr. Clarke N. Hogan William R. Janis Elnora Allen Angela Benton Peter Bernard Dorothy S. Broderson Dr. Renard Charity
Dr. James F. Childress
Phyllis L. Cothran
Joe Kelliher
Bette O. Kramer
Laura Lee Viergever
Alfred W. Gross
Robert B. Stroube, M.D., M.P.H.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION INTRODUCTION	PAGE 1
SUMMARY OF PROPOSED LEGISLATION	1
TECHNICAL CONCERNS	2
PREVIOUS LEGISLATION REVIEWED BY THE ADVISORY COMMISSION	3
CURRENT REQUIREMENTS	3
DEVELOPMENTAL DELAY	4
HABILIATIVE SERVICES	6
EARLY INTERVENTION SERVICES IN VIRGINIA (EI)	7
EARLY CHILDHOOD SPECIAL EDUCATION IN VIRGINIA (ECSE)	8
SOCIAL IMPACT	11
MEDICAL EFFICACY	13
FINANCIAL IMPACT	15
Insurance Coverage	16
SIMILAR LEGISLATION IN OTHER STATES	16
REVIEW CRITERIA: SOCIAL IMPACT FINANCIAL IMPACT MEDICAL EFFICACY EFFECTS OF BALANCING THE SOCIAL, FINANCIAL AND MEDICAL EFFICACY CONSIDERATIONS	18 23 26 27
RECOMMENDATION	30
Conclusion	30
APPENDIX: 2006 HOUSE BILL 657	A-1

INTRODUCTION

During the 2006 Session of the General Assembly, the House Committee on Commerce and Labor referred House Bill 657 to the Special Advisory Commission on Mandated Health Insurance Benefits (Advisory Commission). House Bill 657 was introduced by Delegate Kenneth R. Plum.

The Advisory Commission held a hearing on October 17, 2006 in Richmond to receive public comments on House Bill 657. Delegate Plum spoke in support of the bill. Written comments supporting House Bill 657 were received prior to the public hearing from concerned citizens, parents of children with developmental disorders, professionals who provide habilitative services to children, and representatives from groups, such as the Virginia Autism Resource Center, provided background reports. Representatives from the Virginia Association of Health Plans (VAHP) spoke in opposition to the bill.

The Joint Legislative Audit and Review Commission (JLARC) staff of the Virginia General Assembly prepared a "Review of House Bill 657, Mandated Coverage for Habilitative Services for Children under Age Nineteen with Developmental Delays" pursuant to §§ 2.2-2503 and 30-58.1 of the Code of Virginia. A copy of the evaluation is available on the JLARC website at http://jlarc.state.va.us.

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED LEGISLATION

House Bill 657 would amend and reenact § 38.2-4319 of the Code of Virginia and add § 38.2-3418.15, which would mandate coverage for habilitative services for children under age 19 with developmental delays.

The bill applies to insurers proposing to issue individual or group accident and sickness insurance policies providing hospital, medical or surgical, or major medical coverage on an expense-incurred basis; corporations providing individual or group accident and sickness subscription contracts; and health maintenance organizations (HMOs) providing a health care plan for health care services and requires that they shall provide coverage under any such policy, contract, or plan delivered, issued for delivery or renewed in the Commonwealth on and after July 1, 2005 for medically necessary habilitative services for persons younger than 19 years.

The bill defines "habilitative services" as "health and social services directed toward increasing and maintaining the physical, intellectual, emotional, and social functioning of developmentally delayed individuals, in the areas of self-care, sensory and motor development, interpersonal skills, communication, and socialization; and reduction or elimination of maladaptive behavior." "Habilitative services" does not include services for which coverage is provided or required to be provided pursuant to § 38.2-3418-5.

"Medically necessary habilitative services" is defined as habilitative services that are certified by the Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation and Substance Abuse Services (MHMRSAS) as designed to help an individual attain or retain the capability to function age appropriately within the individual's environment and shall include habilitative services that enhance functional ability without effecting a cure.

The bill states that an insurer, corporation, or HMOs subject to this section shall not be required to provide coverage for medically necessary habilitative services to the extent that such services are provided through the individual's school; however, this exclusion from coverage shall not alter or diminish the obligation of an insurer, corporation, or HMO to provide coverage for medically necessary habilitative services that are not provided through the individual's school.

The bill requires each insurer, corporation, or HMO subject to its provision to provide notice annually to its insureds, and enrollees about the coverage required.

The bill does not apply to short-term travel, accident only, limited or specified disease policies, or individual conversion policies or contracts, nor to policies designed for issuance to persons eligible for Medicare or similar coverage under state or federal governmental plans.

TECHNICAL CONCERNS

• Subsection B of HB 657 (line 29 through 33) defines "Medically necessary habilitative services" as

"habilitative services that are certified by the DMHMRSAS as designed to help an individual attain or retain the capability to function age appropriately within the individual's environment and shall include habilitative services that enhance functional ability without effecting a cure."

The DMHMRSAS has no legal mandate to certify or license habilitative services such as occupation therapy, physical therapy, speech therapy or other habilitative services. The DMHMRSAS is responsible for licensing those programs which provide services to persons with mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse disabilities.

The draft language incorporated in HB 657 does not specifically stipulate benefit requirements or limitations that are found in some other mandated benefits provisions. The language does not distinguish or address deductibles, benefit year or lifetime durational limits, benefit year or lifetime dollar limits, lifetime episodes or treatment limits, co-payment and coinsurance factors and benefit year maximums for deductibles and co-payments and coinsurance factors. Nor does the language prohibit the insurer, corporation or HMO from imposing upon any person receiving benefits any co-payments, fees or conditions imposed upon all individuals in the same benefit category.

PREVIOUS LEGISLATION REVIEWED BY THE ADVISORY COMMISSION

In 2005, Delegate Kenneth Plum introduced legislation similar to that proposed in HB 657 (2005 HB 2077). However, at the patron's request, the Advisory Commission did not review the bill. House Bill 657 expands upon the definitional language that was contained in 2005 House Bill 2077.

Also in 2005, the Advisory Commission considered a similar coverage requirement when it reviewed Senate Bill 1049, which required an offer of coverage for the treatment of developmental delay for children from birth to age five. Coverage for the treatment of development delay did not include services that would be covered as medically necessary early intervention services pursuant to § 38.2-3418.5. The Advisory Commission voted against enactment of Senate Bill 1049 and recommended that the General Assembly establish a task force or committee to construct a more narrowly defined bill.

CURRENT REQUIREMENTS

The early intervention mandate, § 38.2-3418.5, applies to children from birth to age three and requires that benefits for the early intervention services be limited to \$5,000 per insured per year (Subsection A).

Coverage for early intervention services requires health insurers, HMOs and corporations providing accident and sickness subscription contracts to provide coverage for medically necessary early intervention services. "Early intervention services" means medically necessary speech and language therapy, occupational therapy, physical therapy, and assistive technology services and devices for dependents from birth to age three who are certified by the DMHMRSAS as eligible for services under Part H of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1471 et seq.). "Medically necessary early intervention services for the population certified by the Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation and Substance Abuse Services" means those services designed to help an individual attain or retain the capability to function age appropriately within his environment and includes services which enhance functional ability without effecting a cure.

This bill also requires that the cost of these medically necessary early intervention services not be applied to any contractual provision limiting the total amount of coverage paid by the insurer to or on behalf of the insured during the insured's lifetime. Additionally, copayments, coinsurance or deductibles resulting from receiving early intervention services may be paid by federal, state, or local funds. The bill's provisions are applicable to policies, plans and contracts delivered, issued for delivery or renewed on and after July 1, 1998. The bill is not applicable to short-term travel, accident only, limited or specified disease policies, policies or contracts designed for issuance to persons eligible for coverage under Medicare, or to short-term nonrenewable policies of not more than six months' duration.

Senate Bill 430 was passed by the 1999 General Assembly. It was effective on January 1, 2000. Section 38.2-3412.1:01, coverage for biologically based mental illness, includes "autism" in the definition of "biologically based" illnesses. The law requires insurers to provide coverage for biologically-based mental illnesses.

A "biologically based mental illness" is defined as "any mental or nervous condition caused by a biological disorder of the brain that results in a clinically significant syndrome that substantially limits the person's functioning." Specifically, the following diagnoses are defined as biologically based mental illnesses, as they apply to adults and children: schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, bipolar disorder, major depressive disorder, panic disorder, obsessive compulsive disorder, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, autism, and drug and alcohol addiction.

DEVELOPMENTAL DELAY

According to Title 1 of the federal Children's Health Act of 2000 (P.L. 106-310), approximately 2% of children under the age of 18 have a significant developmental delay, and these delays include intellectual disability, cerebral palsy, hearing loss and vision impairment. Of these significant developmental delays, intellectual disability (in the past referred to as mental retardation) is the most common. Approximately 17% of children have some type of developmental delay, including more mild challenges such as speech and language disorders, learning disabilities, and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), which appear to be more common than Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). Current information indicates that Down syndrome occurs in 1 out of 800 births and is slightly less common than ASD.

Some service providers prefer to apply the less specific term "developmental delay," when a child's development appears to lag, rather than a more specific disability diagnosis, since symptoms of specific disabilities may be unclear in young children. It is possible that a child with a developmental delay who receives services will not develop a disability; whereas if the same child did not receive services, the delay would become a disability. Because it is based on a comparison of the child's functional level with that of other children of the same age, "developmental delay" can be seen as a statistically defined, socially mediated construct that depends on cultural expectations and the definition of what constitutes a delay.^{2, 3}

Some research defines developmental disabilities as a group of related chronic disorders of early onset estimated to affect 5% to 10% of children. Global developmental delay is a subset of developmental disabilities defined as significant delay in all developmental areas, gross/fine motor, speech/language, cognition, social/personal and activities of daily living.⁴

Developmental delay can be restricted to one stream of development (single domain) or to two or more streams of development (global developmental delay). The domains of development can be conceptually categorized into four major areas:

- 1. Motor development encompasses both gross motor ability (the control of large groups of muscles involved in walking, sitting, or transferring from one position to another) and fine motor abilities (the manipulation of objects with the hands in order to eat, draw, play etc). Children progress through motor milestones in an orderly fashion, attaining these functions in a clear and sequential process. Motor delay is defined as a significant delay in motor abilities without a delay in other developmental categories.⁵
- 2. Language performance, consisting of articulation, receptive and expressive language skills, and the use of nonverbal symbols, encompasses a major stream of development, arising from the interaction between innate communication abilities and environmental influences. Any significant delay in language or speech skills without a delay in other developmental domains is categorized as a developmental language disorder, developmental dysphasia, or specific language impairment.⁶
- 3. Adaptive or cognitive development is a measure of the child's ability to problem solve through intuition, perception, and verbal and nonverbal reasoning. Moreover, it encompasses the ability not only to learn and understand but also to retain this information and apply it as needed.⁷
- 4. Personal or social development encompasses the child's interactions, as shown by the formation and maintenance of relationships and responsiveness to the presence of others. Psychosocial delay presents itself over time as behavioral abnormalities that differ from normal behavioral responses by their quantity, severity, nature, and duration. Personal development involves the formation of self-help skills in various activities of daily living, such as feeding, dressing, and toileting.⁸

Some developmental delays may result in a diagnosis such as Down Syndrome or Fragile X, both of which are a result of chromosomal abnormalities. Others may include hearing or vision impairments, fetal alcohol syndrome, Erb's or Klumple's palsy, autism, Asperger's disorder, Rhett's Syndrome, and pervasive developmental disorder. Cerebral palsy, mental retardation, learning disabilities, etc. could also be categorized as developmental disabilities.

According to the CDC, ASD prevalence is estimated to fall within a range of two to six per thousand (equivalent to 1 in 500 to 1 in 166). ASDs are considered the most common of severe disorders of development, with an estimated prevalence of 6 out of 1,000. Although there have been medical and technological advancements in treating and understanding the disorder, autism-related disabilities are largely inexplicable.⁹

The CDC defines ASDs as a group of developmental disabilities that are caused by an abnormality in the brain. Autism is not a specific disease but rather a disorder of brain development with a strong genetic basis. Because of qualitative and quantitative variations in symptoms, autism is referred to as one of a spectrum of

disorders on a continuum. This term encompasses the classic autistic disorder and other pervasive developmental disorders.¹¹

Children with autism demonstrate behaviors and skills that span a broad continuum extending from very mild peculiarities to severe developmental challenges. Autism is known to be a very heterogeneous disorder, with milder forms being more common than the classic form. Although clinical patterns vary depending on severity, all children with autism demonstrate some degree of qualitative impairment in reciprocal social interaction, qualitative impairment of communication, and restricted, repetitive, and stereotypic patterns of behaviors, interests, and activities. ASD-specific early intervention services are dependent upon early detection and formal diagnosis. Positive outcomes are based on young children being screened for ASD, identified as being at risk, and referred for comprehensive evaluation and assessment in an efficient and timely manner. 13

The significant overlap that exists between the behavioral and developmental aspects of developmental delay is what makes it complex. As children mature, their language skills and cognitive experience will vary, and behavioral issues can mask the underlying problem or mimic characteristics of other associated disorders. Developmental trajectories in key areas will become prominent indicators. The possibilities for differential diagnosis will become greater with increased variability in symptom expression, language ability and social demands. Studies indicate that 70% to 80% of children in need of services are not identified by their primary care provider. As a result, children are misdiagnosed or miss opportunities for assistance during the most critical time of brain development in early life. 14

Another consideration for clinicians is cultural diversity and the role of linguistic backgrounds. Labeling a child "developmentally delayed" can impact academic success and social acceptance, especially for children from birth to age nine. A professional's thorough review and monitoring efforts are important in avoiding errors in diagnosis borne from differences acceptable in various cultures about what constitutes a disability or delay. ¹⁵

HABILITATIVE SERVICES

Habilitative services refer to services prescribed to children who are born with mental or physical disabilities, who, beyond the age of 3 require services to enhance and improve the individual level of functioning. Habilitative treatment enables a child to reach age appropriate developmental milestones and to perform important tasks of daily living typical of same age peers. ¹⁶

Habilitative services can include intensive behavioral intervention. Some therapies require 20 to 40 hours per week up to 12 months a year. Behavioral intervention can be delivered by a trained paraprofessional or special educator as long as it is supervised by a qualified and experienced program developer. Some specific

names of 'treatments' include Positive Behavior Support, Verbal Behavior Therapy, Pivotal Response Training, Inclusion Coaching, Shadowing, Applied Behavior Analysis, Relationship Development Intervention. Also, many children with ASD have nutritional deficiencies due to odd eating habits which impact their food intake and subsequently their growth and development.¹⁷

For example, most school districts do not offer feeding programs because these habits do not usually impact the child's education. Insurers do not usually cover these services because the children are not usually at risk of death or illness and they cannot be cured of their autism, yet many children eat only a very narrow selection of food -- like mashed potatoes, or saltine crackers. There are feeding clinics that can help, but other than military insurance, or private funding, there are no other funding streams. ¹⁸

As defined in the bill, habilitative services does not include services for which coverage is provided or required to be provided pursuant to § 38.2-3418.5. The early intervention mandate (§ 38.2-3418.5) provides medically necessary services for children birth to age 3. Under the current mandate, the Part C system conducts evaluations and assessments to determine eligibility for habilitative services. The Individualized Family Services Plan (IFSP) serves as the plan of care document to meet requirements that these children's services are medically necessary. The Early Intervention mandate is a private insurance mandate for coverage for habilitative services under Part C of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).

EARLY INTERVENTION SERVICES IN VIRGINIA

In Virginia, Part C early intervention program (EI) is administered by DMHMRSAS. The Part B program, Early Childhood Special Education (ECSE), which serves children with disabilities aged 2 to 5, is managed by the Virginia Department of Education (VDOE).

The EI system incorporates shared responsibility for development and implementation of the system among various agencies at both the state and local levels to help the state meet federal regulations and guidelines based on a collaborative model of service provision. Full implementation of the Part C Program includes the assurance that a statewide system of EI services is in effect.

Part C requires that payment for early intervention services be coordinated from federal, state, local, and private sources (including public and private insurance coverage) prior to the use of PART C funds (34 CFR 303.522 (a)(1) and 34 CFR 303.527). The Department of Medical Assistance Services (DMAS) requires that Medicaid providers provide "medically necessary" services approved in the State Plan for Medical Assistance to Part C children. Specifically, Medicaid providers must ensure that all Part C eligible children and their families will receive each medically necessary covered service to treat all conditions whether congenital in nature or as a result of illness or trauma, and whether the services is required to prevent deterioration or maintain and improve ability and function.¹⁹

In Virginia, children age 0-3 are eligible for Part C early intervention services provided they have developmental delay; or atypical development; and/or a diagnosed physical or mental handicapping condition that has a high probability of resulting in delay (i.e., significant central nervous system anomaly, congenital or acquired hearing loss, chromosomal abnormalities, and inborn errors of the metabolism).²⁰

The same eligibility procedures and definition of developmental delay are used throughout the Commonwealth to determine potential eligibility for all children referred to the Part C system. Any child diagnosed as physically or mentally disabled or who otherwise meets the eligibility requirements can be referred to Virginia's Part C system. The child must be diagnosed by a physician or other qualified medical professional.

All families referred to the Part C system are eligible to receive:

- Multidisciplinary evaluation and assessment,
- An Individualized Family Services Plan (ISFP), and
- Service Coordination.

Specific services and the level of services deemed necessary and appropriate are made on an individual basis by negotiation among all team members and are included on the IFSP. Services identified on the IFSP are available to all eligible children and families. Not all early intervention services provided by the program are free of charge, although Part C is an entitlement program. Necessary services identified on the IFSP require that fees are to be charged according to state law. Federal law requires that all sources of public and private funds (including Medicaid, CHAMPUS, private insurance, donation, etc.), as well as fees based on family ability-to-pay mechanisms, must be used prior to utilizing Part C Early Intervention funds. Part C services are generally provided on a sliding fee scale.²¹

EARLY CHILDHOOD SPECIAL EDUCATION IN VIRGINIA (ECSE)

According to research studies, educational interventions are designed to help children with developmental delay, particularly ASD, and provide structure, direction, and organization for the child. Educational interventions should be individualized to the child and take into account his or her overall developmental status and specific strengths and deficits. Methods that improve the child's functional communication in all environments are important and will usually include speech therapy with an emphasis on the use of visual cues.²²

The DOE reports that as of December 1, 2005, a total of 175,730 students with disabilities were being served through all school divisions and state operated programs, with the majority, 175,176, being assisted in school divisions. The disability categories with the largest number of cases are Specific Learning Disability (65,686); Speech or Language Impairment (32,239); Other Health impairment (25,600); Developmental Delay (14,945); Emotional Disturbance (12,425), and Mental Retardation (11,823).

According to the Virginia Department of Education, in 2003, local school divisions provided special education and related services to 172,848 students, of which 12,623 aged 3 to 22, were categorized as developmental delay.²³

NOTE: The following explanation of ECSE in Virginia is taken from the Virginia Board for People with Disabilities website unless otherwise indicated.²⁴

In Virginia, children, adolescents, and young adults with disabilities who have not yet reached their 22nd birthday may be eligible to receive special education and related services provided by local educational agencies (LEAs) and overseen by the Virginia Department of Education (VDOE). These include preschool services for children ages two through five. Part B of the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEIA) mandates that such services be available starting at age three, but Virginia parents have the option of their child participating in either Part B preschool services or Part C early intervention services between the ages of 24 and 36 months. A separate eligibility determination is required for Part B services from that required for Part C services, and children already receiving early intervention services may or may not qualify for special education services.

The Virginia DOE, Division of Special Education and Student Services, is responsible for administration and oversight of special education instruction regarding students with disabilities enrolled in kindergarten through 12th grade. The division is responsible for seeking out and locating children at risk for developmental disabilities and attempting to facilitate accurate intervention programs and document the need for additional EI.

DOE collaborates with other state agencies, including the Virginia Department of Rehabilitative Services, the Virginia Department of Health, the Virginia Department for the Blind and Vision Impaired, the Virginia Department for the Deaf and Hard of Hearing, and other agencies as prescribed in the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) and other federal and state legislation to accomplish its goals in special education. IDEA pertains to all children with various disabilities in grades K-12, and provides transportation needs to children and young adults to age 22 (age 21, inclusive). The Preschool Grant Program serves children with disabilities aged two to five. Head Start programs, operated by the Virginia Department of Social Services, provide children with disabilities aged 2-5, who are eligible for services to low-income families, with early intervention, day care, and educational services. Transition services are required to be provided to students with disabilities and their families as students progress through middle and high school beginning at age 14 and ending at age 22 (to age 21 inclusive).

If the child is found to have a disability as defined by IDEA, he or she becomes eligible for special education and related services, and within 30 calendar days an Individualized Education Program (IEP) team is convened. The IEP is a written statement developed for a child with a disability by an interdisciplinary team which specifies the individual education needs of the child and what special education and

related services are necessry to meet the needs. Re-evaluation and revision the IEP is a requirement to determine if the child continues to qualify for services, and to adjust the child's IEP as indicated.

Under IDEIA and companion federal and state regulations, Preschool through Secondary School (K-12) Special Education schools receiving federal funds must provide eligible students with disabilities with a FAPE. Further, students who receive special education services are entitled to have those services delivered in the LRE. The significance of LRE is that students with disabilities have the right to be educated with their peers who do not have disabilities, and that students with disabilities cannot be moved to special classes, placed in separate schools, or otherwise removed from the general education environment unless it is demonstrated that, due to the nature and severity of their disabilities, they cannot be educated in a regular education class through the use of supplemental aids and services.

"Mainstreaming," now more commonly identified as "inclusion" is considered to be a best practice, although, neither is a legal precept. LRE is the legal requirement, and may or may not result in placement in a regular education classroom depending on each individual's unique needs. Regardless of placement, students with disabilities are required to have access to the general educational curriculum to the maximum extent appropriate. In Virginia, this would be the Standards of Learning (SOL) curriculum.

In Virginia, "Special Education" means specially designed instruction, at no cost to the parent or parents, to meet the unique need of a child with a disability including instruction conducted in a classroom, in the home, in hospitals, in institutions and in other settings and instructions in physical education. The term includes speech-language pathology services, vocational education and travel training. (COV § 22.1-213:34 CFR § 300.26). The specially designed instruction includes adapting to the content, methodology or delivery of instruction needs of the child as a result of the disability and it ensures the child's access to the general curriculum, so that the child can meet the educational standards that apply to all children within the jurisdiction of the local educational agency. (34 CFR § 300.26 (b) (3).²⁵

In Virginia, "Related Services" encompasses developmental, corrective, and other supportive services required to assist a child with a disability so that the child benefits from special education. Supportive services may include artistic and cultural programs, and art, music and dance therapy, as well as other programs that may benefit a child by participating in special education. COV § 22.1-213; 34 CFR § 300.24 (a).²⁶

Special education students may be found eligible for Early Childhood Special Education (ECSE) services under one or more of 14 disability categories, which are defined in the federal and state regulations:

- 1. autism
- 2. deaf-blindness
- 3. emotional disturbance
- 8. orthopedic impairment
- 9. other health impairment
- 10. severe disabilities

4. hearing impairment/deaf 11. speech or language impairment

5. learning disabilities 12. traumatic brain injury

6. mental retardation 13. visual impairment/blind

7. multiple disabilities 14. developmental delay

The VDOE defines "developmental delay" as a disability affecting a child between the age of two through eight who is (1) experiencing developmental delays, as measured by appropriate diagnostic instruments and procedures, in one or more of the following areas, physical development, cognitive development, communication development, social or emotional development, or adaptive development; and (2) who, by reason there of, needs special education and related services. (34 CFR § 300.7 (b); § 300.313) Local school divisions determine the criteria for being found eligible for services under the developmental delay category.²⁷

SOCIAL IMPACT

The CDC estimates that 17% of children in the United States under age 18 have a developmental or behavioral disability. In addition, many children have delays in language or other areas, which also impact school readiness. However, less than 50% of these children are identified as having a problem before starting school, by which time significant delays may have already occurred and opportunities for treatment have been missed.²⁸

In Virginia, there are approximately 270,000 children under 17 with special needs. This number represents 15.3% of all children and adolescents.²⁹

According to the Infant and Toddler online Tracking System (ITOTS), the chart below indicates the number of children served by Part C services and referred to other services by Virginia's Infant and Toddler Connection:

	Children Served	Children Referred
12/1/2001 - 12/2/2002	7,415	2,449
12/2/2002 - 12/1-2003	9,076	2,688
12/2/2003 - 12/1/2004	9,615	3,030

30 DMHMRSAS projects that almost 9,000 children ages birth to 3 years will be receiving Part C services by 2010.

Of the 98,958 children born each year in Virginia, approximately, 4849 children or 4.9% are infants known to have birth defects or congenital anomalies. Also, characteristics of Virginia communities serving the highest percentage of the birth to age three population include smaller communities, familiarity of physician with the Part C system, reciprocal communication between Part C system and referral sources, longevity of primary contact person with the local Part C system and stable local intervention program.³¹

The Virginia Early Childhood Comprehensive Systems Project (VECCS) conducted an environmental scan in 2004 through 2006 to identify gaps and strengths in the Commonwealth's system of services for young children and families. Data was collected and analyzed from five core component areas (medical home, behavioral health and social-emotional development, early care and education, parent education and family support). Concerns emphasized long waiting lists for behavioral services, in addition to an increase in the number of children under age 5 who are referred for behavioral services. The 2004 Mental Health Parent Satisfaction conducted by DMHMRSAS about CSB clients showed that 0.7% of CSB clients were under the age of three years. 32

The Title V Maternal and Child Health Needs Assessment reported that only 62% of children with emotional, developmental or behavioral problems requiring treatment and counseling received mental health services in the last year.³³

The study identified gaps to integrating systems of care. The two primary gaps in integrated systems of care are barriers to accessing services (financial and non-financial) and a lack of knowledge concerning the range of existing services by providers. Specific elements which limit access to services include financial, child care, transportation, geographic and cultural/language barriers. Quantitative data to demonstrate the burden of these barriers are not available, however, there is data to support disparities between different racial, age and socio-economic groups.³⁴

The study indicated gaps which limit the ability of families and the public to understand and be directly involved in all levels of the early childhood system. One recommendation to address the problem was to increase awareness and educate families and policy decision-makers about the importance of early childhood health issues. The long term benefits of family involvement in an integrated system of care includes improved parenting skills and parental knowledge of child development, improved access to quality child care, increased parental involvement in child education.³⁵

Other survey data focused on early learning and behavior. The National Survey of Children's Health reported 36% of Virginia parents of children under 5 expressing concerns about their child's development, learning, or behavior. This survey also found that 24.5% of Virginia children aged 1-5 are at moderate or high risk for developmental delay. ³⁶

James S. Reinhard, M.D., Commissioner, DMHMRSAS, agreed with the evidence incorporated in the environmental scan and noted ...

"The second system that is left to deal with children's behavioral health problems is the public schools system. Frequently problems are first recognized at school, but school systems are ill prepared to deal with children with serious emotional disorders. Few schools have school-based mental health services that enable children with psychiatric disorders to learn in school..."

MEDICAL EFFICACY

Children diagnosed as developmental delay have the same health care needs as children without disabilities and benefit from the same health promotion and disease prevention activities. Also, children diagnosed as developmental delay may have unique health care needs that relate to etiologic conditions (i.e. Angelman syndrome, fragile X syndrome, tuberous sclerosis) or other conditions (i.e. epilepsy) associated with their specific condition. Managing the etiologic or co-morbid conditions might include administering medications, referral to and consultation with appropriate specialists. There is no cure for developmental delay; however, the overall goal is to minimize core symptoms, prevent harmful behaviors (i.e. aggression and self-injurious behaviors), facilitate access to intervention programs, maximize beneficial effects of nonmedical interventions, and improve the quality of life for the child and his or her family.³⁸

Children with ASD are at greater risk of psychopathologic problems than are children without disabilities. Common psychiatric disorders associated with ASD include mood disorder, anxiety disorders, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, and obsessive-compulsive disorder. Sometimes, other symptoms, such as overactivity, sleep disorders, aggression, stereotypes, or self-injury become the focus of medical treatment. These target behaviors may change as the child grows older or progresses developmentally. Treatment is aimed at decreasing these targeted behaviors to facilitate communication, learning, socialization, and integration into community settings. ³⁹

Research has demonstrated that early detection of developmental disabilities and evidence-based intervention can significantly improve short-term and long-term outcomes and reduce the need for lifelong interventions. Recently developed screening and diagnostic tools have made earlier identification and referral to developmental and educational programs possible. There is a growing body of evidence that early and appropriate intervention can have a positive impact on overall outcome. ⁴⁰

The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) Policy Statement (2001) recommends all infants and young children should be screened for developmental delays. Screening procedures should be incorporated into the ongoing health care of the child as part of the provision of a medical home, as defined by the Academy.⁴¹

Habilitative services include intensive behavioral intervention for 20 to 40 hours per week 12 months a year, speech therapy, occupational therapy and physical therapy. Intensive behavioral intervention can be delivered by a trained paraprofessional or special educator; however, it is required that it is supervised by a qualified and experienced program developer. ⁴² Other therapies include parent training, medical management, community support and alternative therapies. Some specific names of 'treatments' include Positive Behavior Support, Verbal Behavior Therapy, Pivotal Response Training, Inclusion Coaching, Shadowing, Applied Behavior Analysis, Relationship Development Intervention. ⁴³ Often, several strategies are used simultaneously in treating the same child.

Habilitative therapies include Speech, Occupational, and Physical Therapy. Most children diagnosed as developmental delay display a deficit in functional communication skills as one of the core problems. Techniques to improve language skills are proven to be beneficial. Speech therapy emphasizes language assessment needs, including all areas of communication, particularly semantics and pragmatics, and should lead directly into intervention. 44

One study specifically evaluated language therapy and found that children retained their gains for at least 3 months after the intervention. Occupational therapy using sensory integration techniques to address sensory processing problems is commonly used in children with ASD. Although many believe occupational therapy is subjectively effective in educational and clinical settings, research data to support its effectiveness is scant. Occupational and physical therapy may be helpful in addressing coordination and motor planning deficits occurring in some children with ASD. All three types of therapy should be interwoven throughout all aspects of a child's program, not just as a "pullout" technique. 45

Behavioral training and management protocols at home and at school prevent undesirable behavior from developing. Behavioral training, including teaching appropriate communication behaviors, has been shown to be effective in decreasing behavior problems and improving adaptation. The basis of including children with autism in child care centers and regular classrooms with other children as role models can also be effective in decreasing the frequency of undesirable behaviors. The overall goal of the approach is to reinforce desirable behaviors and decrease undesirable behaviors using behavioral psychologic theory. ⁴⁶

Comprehensive treatment plans may include behavioral modification and applied behavioral analysis. Overall, it is accepted that positive reinforcement should be primarily used and that methods such as extinction and punishment to decrease behaviors should be limited to very specific situations. Behavioral therapies are most effective when started early and used consistently. Social skills training to promote social competence are an important component of the habilitation plan for children with ASD because it uses a behavioral or developmental approach that emphasizes generalization of skills to all settings.⁴⁷

Various augmentative and alternative strategies also exist. Examples include Daily Life Therapy (the Higashi School), and Bright Start curriculum, the Picture Exchange Communication System (PECS), which teaches the child to exchange a picture of a desired item with the teacher who immediately honors the request, ⁴⁸ and Treatment and Education of Autistic and Communication Handicapped Children (TEACCH), the well-known strategy. TEACCH services include diagnostic clinics, parent training, classroom programs, residential programs, respite care, and various vocational placement options. The program begins with assessment and emphasizes teaching according to the child's strengths. The TEACCH program has been evaluated by empirical studies of program components and parent evaluations and has been

found to be successful in its goal. However, these studies have not included control groups. ⁴⁹

FINANCIAL IMPACT

The DMHMRSAS is responsible for licensing those programs which provide services to persons with mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse disabilities. The proposed legislation would require the DMHMRSAS to certify or license habilitative services such as occupation therapy, physical therapy, speech therapy or other habilitative services. The cost assessment of the added responsibility for that agency was not available prior to this analysis. According to the findings of JLARC, the annual cost to the State for DMHMRSAS to certify services as "medically necessary" is estimated to range between \$2.7 million and \$3.1 million per year.

Written comments related to House Bill 657 from an occupational therapist in Northern Virginia, suggest that costs for therapy vary throughout the state from approximately \$85 per treatment session to \$120 per treatment session. In the case of a child with severe neurological problems, services could be required twice weekly from each discipline (physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy). It is not uncommon in the case of a severely disabled child to require services five to six times per week. In the case of a moderately involved child, services may be required from each discipline one time per week or every other week, depending on the presenting problems. Based on the information above, the estimated annual cost per child per family could range from approximately \$26,520 to more than \$37,000.

Proponents of HB 657 view the financial impact of the proposed legislation in terms of short range and long range effects and costs. Early intervention services which include habilitative services can improve outcomes early in life for children with DD such that delays may not develop into disabilities that may require more frequent and more intense therapies or institutionalization.

The 2004 *Virginia Cost Study* produced a per child cost using two different methods. The total cost for the FY 03 Part C system was \$33.4 million. The first cost of \$8,002 per child (in FY 03) is based on the child count data, which represents an unduplicated count of children with an IFSP on December 1 of each year. The second method of examining enrollment used the aggregate count which reflected an average annual per child cost of \$4,158 for FY 03.

The VDOE reported that in the 2000-2001 year, 162,265 students received special education services at a cost of \$13,817 per student. The per student cost for children not receiving special education was \$6,632.⁵¹

INSURANCE COVERAGE

The State Corporation Commission Bureau of Insurance surveyed fifty of the top writers of accident and sickness insurance in Virginia in May 2006, regarding bills to be reviewed by the Advisory Commission this year. Forty-three companies responded to

the survey. Eight companies indicated that they have little to no applicable health insurance business in force in Virginia. Of the thirty-five respondents completing the survey, eighteen indicated that they currently provide coverage for developmental delay. However, of the eighteen carriers, nine indicated the company definition for habilitative services was different than the requirements of HB 657, or that the coverage provided did not include all services as required under the bill; one company provided coverage only if the patient had not reached functional capacity through early intervention; and, one company provided coverage for physical therapy only. One company did not pay for the diagnosis of developmental delay, but stated if another diagnosis was provided, physical therapy, occupational therapy or speech/language therapy could be available. The company reserved the right to review each case on an individual basis. Seventeen companies indicated they did not provide coverage.

Respondents to the survey provided cost figures of between \$.00 and \$2.00 per month per standard individual policy. Cost figures for individual optional coverage ranged from \$.78 to \$10.00. Cost figures were between \$.00 and \$2.94 per month per standard group certificate, to provide the coverage required by House Bill 657. Group optional coverage cost estimates ranged from \$.00 to \$22.53 per month per group certificate. One respondent reported \$431.25 for the monthly cost of its total policy premium and did not supply an estimate or cost for each bill.

Research examining the insurance industry as it relates to children with special needs, indicates that in practice, many plans commonly exercise their discretion in authorizing the full amount of coverage and negotiates with providers the extent of intervention needed to achieve an acceptable outcome. Plans typically exercise this discretion for mental health, home health, ancillary therapy and other services needed over an extended period of time. In making determinations, most plans depend on contract language to establish the criteria for coverage, such as language requiring significant improvement within a short period of time or limiting coverage to crisis intervention until a patient is stabilized. Some companies also rely on internally developed guidelines.⁵²

SIMILAR LEGISLATION IN OTHER STATES

Staff reviewed information available from the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC), National Insurance Law Service (NILS), and various other sources to determine if requirements of House Bill 657 are imposed in other states.

Maryland Insurance Code (§ 15-835) mandates coverage for habilitative services for children under 19 years of age; it applies to HMOs, non-profits, group insurers and individual insurance carriers. The mandate requires carriers to provide coverage of habilitative services for children under the age of 19 years with a congenital or genetic birth defect, including autism and cerebral palsy, and allows them to do so through a managed care system; carriers must provide notice annually to members about the required coverage; carriers are not required to reimburse for habilitative services delivered through early intervention or school services if a carrier denies payment for

services because it is not a congenital or genetic birth defect is considered an adverse decision.

The Texas mandate (I.C. article 21.53) requires an offer of coverage for rehabilitative and habilitative therapies, to include speech therapy, physical therapies, occupational therapy and dietary and nutritional evaluations. Coverage applies to children from birth through age six. The Texas mandate applies to HMO's, non-profit organizations, groups carriers and individual insurance carriers, as well as other health insurance arrangements. A health benefit plan that provides coverage for rehabilitative and habilitative therapies may not prohibit or restrict payment for covered services provided to a child and determined to be necessary to and provided in accordance with an individualized family service plan issued by the Interagency Council on Early Childhood Intervention. Rehabilitative and habilitative therapies must be covered in the amount, duration, scope, and service setting established in the child's individualized family service plan.

According to a JLARC evaluation of House Bill 657, the state of Indiana mandates insurance coverage for pervasive developmental disorders (PDD). The coverage specifies that covered services may not be subject to dollar limits, deductibles, copayments or coinsurance provisions that are less favorable than those for physical illness. The JLARC report indicated that any challenge to medical necessity of services is only considered reasonable if that challenge has been reviewed by a specialist in the treatment of PDDs.

Five states were found to mandate coverage for autism with varying degrees of coverage. Colorado, Kentucky, and New Hampshire require that coverage be provided for autism as for any other physical illness that would be covered under accident and sickness policies. Connecticut requires group plans to provide medical and surgical conditions for biologically based mental illnesses, including autism. Hawaii determines treatment and utilization guidelines for autism.

Forty states mandate coverage or mandate an offer of coverage for biologically based mental illness. Coverage for biologically based mental illness is regarded as the same coverage for other medical illness and disease. At least eight states, (Arkansas, California, Kansas, Louisiana, Maine, Montana, New Hampshire, New Jersey, and Virginia), specifically name autism or developmental disorders in their biologically-based mental illness coverage.

REVIEW CRITERIA

SOCIAL IMPACT

a. The extent to which the treatment or service is generally utilized by a significant portion of the population.

In Virginia, there are approximately 270,000 children under 17 with special needs. This number represents 15.3% of all children and adolescents.⁵³

According to the Infant and Toddler online Tracking System (ITOTS), the chart below indicates the number of children served by Part C services and referred to other services by Virginia's Infant and Toddler Connection:

	Children Served	Children Referred
12/1/2001 - 12/2/2002	7,415	2,449
12/2/2002 - 12/1-2003	9,076	2,688
12/2/2003 - 12/1/2004	9,615	3,030

DMHMRSAS projects that almost 9,000 children ages birth to 3 years will be receiving Part C services by 2010. 54

HB 657 addresses the habilitative needs of all children beyond the age of 3 years. Children older than age 3 who were born with mental or physical disabilities may require services to enhance and improve the individual's functional abilities which enable the child to reach age appropriate developmental milestones and to perform important tasks of daily living typical of same age peers.

Supporters of habilitative care services believe more individuals would utilize habilitative treatments if insurance companies would cover habilitative treatments as medically necessary remediation regardless of the condition originating from rehabilitative or habilitative causes. JLARC reports a probable increase in utilization of habilitative services by approximately 28,000 children. ⁵⁵

b. The extent to which insurance coverage for the treatment or service is already available.

There is some coverage available for habailitative services, however, coverage for certain services affect access to levels of treatment. Further, many private insurers do not cover supports, services or practices recommended in the treatment of developmental delay. Access to insurance coverage may not mean that all needs for special needs children will be met.⁵⁶ Children with special needs use more health services than other children and, therefore, have significantly higher health care expenses.

A majority of insurance companies will provide coverage for rehabilitative services, but limit levels of service or the number of treatment sessions or offer no coverage for habilitative services. Of the thirty-five respondents completing the BOI survey, eighteen indicated that they currently provide coverage for developmental delay. However, of the eighteen carriers, nine indicated the company definition for habilitative services was different than the requirements of HB 657 or that the coverage provided did not include all services as required under the bill.

Studies show that most public and employer-sponsored plans use HMOs or carve out mental health or behavioral health benefits; private insurance plans require

out-of-pocket payments for deductibles, exclude particular benefits, use exclusive definitions in their benefit plans, utilize a medical necessity standard that does not reflect developmental needs of children, and annual or lifetime benefit limits.⁵⁷

The DOE reports that as of December 1, 2005, a total of 175,730 students with disabilities were being served through all school divisions and state operated programs, with the majority, 175,176, being assisted in school divisions.² The disability categories with the largest number of cases are Specific Learning Disability (65,686); Speech or Language Impairment (32,239); Other Health impairment (25,600); Developmental Delay (14,945). ⁵⁸

The VAHP opposed recommending enactment of House Bill 657 indicating in written comments that services included in the bill are already covered by federal and state law. It cited 8 VAC 20-80-10, the Code of Virginia, § 38.2-3418.5, the early intervention madate, and U. S. federal law (IDEA). VAHP also indicated that § 38.2-3412.1:01, the biologically based mental illness mandate, currently mandates coverage for autism, which is one of the most prevalent diagnoses of DD. ⁵⁹

c. If coverage is not generally available, the extent to which the lack of coverage results in persons being unable to obtain necessary health care treatments.

Although autism is the prevalent diagnosis of developmental delay, habilitative service is a treatment modality applicable to many developmental conditions. Proponents indicated that variations in coverage gaps are mostly related to direct services and are where the lack of coverage results in an inability to obtain the necessary treatments for children. Children with severe disorders or with specific treatment regimens may require several hours of direct or intense therapy. In which case, if parents choose to take advantage of those services or therapies recommended by the child's medical doctor or specialist, beyond those services offered through early intervention or early childhood special education, coverage may not be available. Additionally, some proponents believe insurance companies frequently use their own medical review to disallow the physician's recommendation when a pediatrician prescribes a habilitative treatment as medically necessary.

Educating children with autism was accepted as a public responsibility as part of the Education Act of All Handicapped Children in 1975. Despite the federal mandate for appropriate education and intervention services, the goals, methods, and resources available vary considerably from state to state and from school system to school system. ⁶¹

School systems provide direct services to children with developmental delay under separate qualifications than the early intervention programs, and does not consider other "functional" needs. An educational determination of a developmental disability is used to determine only eligibility for special education and related services. The services a student may receive are not based on the disability category, but on the student's current learning needs. If a parent supplemented the school-based therapy or

service with a provider outside of the school system, the supplemental arrangement could possibly reduce the school-based treatment. The DOE indicated that most parents expressed concern with the level of service provided their children in school-based programs.

Written comments from the VAHP opposing House Bill 657 stated that the proposed legislation is redundant and unnecessary because medically necessary services were currently covered under state and federal law. ⁶²

d. If the coverage is not generally available, the extent to which the lack of coverage results in unreasonable financial hardship on those persons needing treatment.

Generally, individuals with developmental delays have access to some treatment because of mandates and federal and state laws. The financial hardship is most apparent after a child has been diagnosed, and therapies are prescribed. The extent of financial hardship will vary, based on the severity of delay and the necessary level of therapy required beyond that which is mandated or federally authorized.

Direct costs include direct medical costs, such as physician and outpatient services, prescription medications, and behavioral therapies (estimated to cost, on average, more than \$29,000 per person per year) and direct non-medical costs, such as special education, camps, and child care (estimated to annually cost more than \$38,000 for those with lower levels of disability and more than \$43,000 for those with higher levels). 63

A study by Michael Ganz reports that indirect costs equal the value of lost productivity resulting from a person having autism, for example, the difference in potential income between someone with autism and someone without. It also captures the value of lost productivity for an autistic person's parents. Examples include loss of income due to reduced work hours or not working altogether. Ganz estimates that annual indirect costs for autistic individuals and their parents range from more than \$39,000 to nearly \$130,000.⁶⁴

The Virginia Autism Resource Center indicated that undisclosed expenses for habilitative treatment and nutritional needs cause hardship. Children diagnosed as DD, particularly with autism, have very odd eating habits that decrease their nutritional intake and affect their growth and development. In most cases, schools do not offer feeding programs because these habits do not usually impact the child's education. Also, insurers do not typically cover these services because the children are not usually at risk of death or illness and they cannot be cured of their condition, yet many children eat only a very narrow selection of food. Funding streams for this circumstance are difficult to find and access. ⁶⁵

Most parents pay out of pocket for habilitative services, which may include Intensive behavioral intervention for 20 to 40 hours per week 12 months a year. These treatments can range in cost from approximately \$85 per treatment session to \$120 per

treatment session. In the case of a child with severe neurological problems, services could be required twice weekly from each discipline (physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy). It is not uncommon in the case of a severely disabled child to require services five to six times per week. In the case of a moderately involved child, services may be required from each discipline one time per week or every other week, depending on the presenting problems. Known estimated costs of habilitative treatments, ranging from \$29,000 to \$130,000 per year are considerable expenses for most families. Without insurance, costs for therapies could be significant, particularly over a lifetime. ⁶⁶

The VAHP testified against recommending HB 657 stating that public programs already acknowledge the need for habilitative services and are designed to provide direct services to this population. ⁶⁷

e. The level of public demand for the treatment or service.

In its analysis of this issue for the Advisory Commission, JLARC estimated that approximately 56,000 children could be eligible for habilitative services described in the proposed mandate.⁶⁸

Based on the DOE definition of "Autism", students identified with autism increased to 5,674 in 2005, up from 4,751 in 2004. In 2003, 3,966 students were reported in this category. Relevant research supports evidence that the prevalence of those conditions diagnosed as DD will continue to increase. ⁶⁹

According to the U. S. Department of Education, from the 1991-1992 to the 2002-2003 school year, the number of students with ASDs in special education increased by more than 2000%. ⁷⁰

In Virginia, prior review of coverage associated with the issues included in this mandate occurred in 2005, when the Advisory Commission considered a mandated offer of coverage for the treatment of developmental delay for children from birth to age five. In 2006, the Joint Commission on Health Care (JCHC) Behavioral Health Care (BHC) Subcommittee included a review of issues related to autism in its 2006 workplan. House Joint Resolution No. 96 and Senate Joint Resolution No. 125 addressed the Education of Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorders, and encouraged relevant entities to take certain actions to improve the education and treatment of individuals with autism spectrum disorders, and to expand training opportunities that include approaches specifically addressing the needs of children with autism spectrum disorders. ^{71, 72}

The Virginia Autism Resource Center reported to the BHCS that autism is emerging as a leader among disabilites when considering those conditions affecting, cognitive, learning, behavioral or sensory motor disabilities.⁷³

f. The level of public demand and the level of demand from providers for individual and group insurance coverage of the treatment or service.

According to a practicing occupational therapist in Northern Virginia, when an insurer denies coverage to children with developmental difficulties asserting that treatment is not considered "rehabilitative" nor does it "restore the patient to his prior level of functioning," the distinction denies treatment to a child with a developmental difficulty that would otherwise be granted to a child who was a victim of an accident or acute illness. ⁷⁴

Determining the level of demand for coverage of habilitative services is difficult. Because of different points of entry into the "system" in which services may be delivered, and because different programs have diverse eligibility requirements for services, compiling true number counts without duplication is complex. However, a review of the issue indicates that proposed disability-specific mandates are a consistent constituent concern.

A review of information available from the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC), National Insurance Law Service (NILS), and various other sources reveal similar coverage requirements as House Bill 657 are imposed in other states, particularly Maryland and Texas. Maryland Insurance Code (§15-835) mandates coverage for habilitative services for children under 19 years of age; it applies to HMOs, non-profits, group insurers and individual insurance carriers; The Texas mandate (I.C. Article 21.53) requires an offer of coverage for rehabilitative and habilitative therapies, to include speech therapy, physical therapies, occupational therapy and dietary and nutritional evaluations. Coverage applies to children from birth through age six. The Texas mandate applies to HMOs, non-profit organizations, groups carriers and individual insurance carriers, as well as other health insurance arrangements.

Three states require that coverage be provided for autism as for any other physical illness that would be covered under accident and sickness policies. Connecticut requires group plans to provide medical and surgical conditions for biologically based mental illnesses, including autism. Hawaii determines treatment and utilization guidelines for autism.

Forty states mandate coverage or mandate an offer of coverage for biologically based mental illness. Coverage for biologically based mental illness is regarded as the same coverage for other medical illness and disease. At least eight states specifically name autism or developmental disorders in their biologically based mental illness coverage.

The VAHP provided written comments indicating that the market is not demanding this product or coverage. VAHP asserts that the competitive market is the more appropriate mechanism to determine the types of benefits to include in health insurance products.

g. The level of interest of collective bargaining organizations in negotiating privately for inclusion of this coverage in group contracts.

The level of interest of collective bargaining organizations in negotiating privately for inclusion of this coverage in group contracts is unknown.

h. Any relevant findings of the state health planning agency or the appropriate health system agency relating to the social impact of the mandated benefit.

The Virginia Treatment Center for Children, in describing ASD for the BHCS, concurs with the evidence indicating an increase in the prevalence of ASD. The agency indicated that it is important to include children with ASD in a regular classroom curriculum and environment taught by regular education teachers to the greatest extent possible and appropriate. ⁷⁵

However, the characteristics of students with ASD make inclusion challenging due to the children's difficulty to relate to others; their limited range of language, communication and cognitive abilities; a difficulty for children with ASD to follow traditional curriculums, the children's resistance to change, and the children's unusual behaviors, stereotypes, and self-stimulatory behaviors. ⁷⁶

FINANCIAL IMPACT

a. The extent to which the proposed insurance coverage would increase or decrease the cost of treatment or service over the next five years.

JLARC reports a probable increase in utilization of habilitative services by approximately 28,000 children. However, it is difficult to estimate changes in the cost of treatments due to ambiguity in the language of the proposed mandate. Research does not conclude that having insurance coverage for habilitative services would change costs for services regardless of how services are delivered. ⁷⁷

JLARC also reports that the new role MHMRSAS plays in determining eligibility of children for habilitative services would approximately cost the state between \$2.7 and \$3.1 million annually.⁷⁸

b. The extent to which the proposed insurance coverage might increase the appropriate or inappropriate use of the treatment or service.

It does not appear that an increased use of services would be due to an inappropriate overuse of services. Insurance coverage may increase the amount of diagnostic testing per individual, which may lead to earlier, more accurate diagnosis.

Parents indicated in written comments that House Bill 657 would allow them an opportunity to afford the recommended, appropriate level or number of therapy sessions

for their child. Because recommended speech therapy sessions, occupational sessions or physical therapy sessions cost more than what private health insurance will cover, many parents are unable to meet the expense of the recommended treatments, thereby further delaying the child's progress.

The VAHP commented in writing that services provided under House Bill 657 were not considered "medically necessary" under the common insurance definition. Further, the VAHP stated that the proposed legislation would change the original definition of medical necessity pertaining to habilitative services.⁷⁹

c. The extent to which the mandated treatment or service might serve as an alternative for more expensive or less expensive treatment or service.

Supporters of House Bill 657 believe enacting the legislation would allow children with developmental delays in need of habilitative services to receive a greater number of treatments or more intense levels of services. Several research studies conclude that early and intensive behavioral and educational intervention can make a significant and positive impact on long-term outcomes. ⁸⁰ Ultimately, the cost to Virginia and its tax-paying citizens would be higher when therapies are not delivered at all or early in life. Without therapeutic interventions, other costlier medical or behavioral conditions can develop.

Although there is evidence that early interventions lead to improvements, there does not appear to be a clear, direct relationship between any particular intervention and children's progress. While substantial evidence exists that treatments can reach short-term goals in many areas, gaps remain in addressing larger questions of the relationships between particular techniques and specific changes.⁸¹

d. The extent to which the insurance coverage may affect the number and types of providers of the mandated treatment or service over the next five years.

Insurance coverage may increase the number of trained providers to deliver dayto-day, one-on-one direct services. Most insurance carriers require monitoring of services by a licensed provider.

e. The extent to which insurance coverage might be expected to increase or decrease the administrative expenses of insurance companies and the premium and administrative expenses of policyholders.

The VCC, through written comments, stated that mandates have the effect of making health care too costly for employers and, ultimately, individuals and those least able to afford health insurance. Further, the VCC stated that when the number of mandates increases, the costs of insurance premiums will also increase, and employers, particularly small employers, are less likely to offer coverage to their employees.⁸²

Respondents to the BOI survey provided cost figures of between \$.00 and \$2.00 per month per standard individual policy. Cost figures for individual optional coverage ranged from \$.78 to \$10.00. Cost figures were between \$.00 and \$2.94 per month per standard group certificate, to provide the coverage required by House Bill 657. Group optional coverage cost estimates ranged from \$.00 to \$22.53 per month per group certificate.

f. The impact of coverage on the total cost of health care.

The impact on the total cost of health care if House Bill 657 was enacted is difficult to determine. Having insurance coverage improves access to care and reduces out-of-pocket expenditures; however, the benefit of insurance coverage is dependant on several variables, including those services parents already pay for that are not covered by insurance or those services not provided through schools. The variables associated with habilitative services distinctively impact coverage in different ways. Access to insurance coverage may not mean that all needs for special needs children will be met.⁸³

A recent U.S. study estimated it could cost approximately \$3.2 million to take care of an autistic person over his or her lifetime. Caring for all people with autism over their lifetimes could cost an estimated \$35 billion per year. However, the \$35 billion annual societal cost of caring for and treating people with autism is an underestimated figure because it does not include those other services that are used to support individuals with autism, such as alternative therapies and other family out-of-pocket expenses that are difficult to measure.⁸⁴

The author of the study suggests that the level of cost could be higher if there were more useful and widespread treatment options available. He noted that the federal budget for autism is, historically, less than \$100 million. ⁸⁵

Research suggests there would be a social cost if public school districts were unable to provide services. Parents without ample financial means would be left with few options for their children. The majority of parents are not Medicaid eligible. There are few studies associated with the cost savings of specific treatment for developmental delay.

MEDICAL EFFICACY

a. The contribution of the benefit to the quality of patient care and the health status of the population, including the results of any research demonstrating the medical efficacy of the treatment or service compared to alternatives or not providing the treatment or service.

Education at home, at school, and in community settings remains the primary treatment for young children with developmental delays, particularly, ASD. Research

suggests that many specific techniques and several comprehensive programs have clear effects on important aspects of these children's learning. Links between interventions and improvements are also dependent on characteristics of the children and aspects of the treatments that are not yet fully understood. The challenges are to ensure implementation of what is already known so that every child benefits from this knowledge and to work from existing research to identify more effective educational interventions for all children.⁸⁶

The general concensus in the medical community is that improved prognosis depends on the early implementation of appropriate intervention strategies tailored to the individual developmental needs of the child and his or her family. Managing a behavioral delay in children is challenging because there is no medical cure or no consensus regarding the best intervention strategy.⁸⁷

Generally, accepted broad management goals of habilitative services or therapies are to improve the overall functional status of the child by promoting the development of communication, social, adaptive, behavioral and academic skills while lessening maladaptive and repetitive behaviors and helping the family manage the stress associated with raising a special needs child. Speech therapy and occupational therapy are accepted therapies to reach these goals. ⁸⁸

A controlled study conducted by Ivar Lovaas in 1987 recorded outcomes of treating young children with ASD with 40 hours per week of one-on-one behavioral training for two years. This therapy, also called applied behavioral analysis or discrete trial learning, concluded that delivering interventions for more than 20 hours per week that were individualized, well-planned and targeted language development and other areas of skill development significantly increased a child's developmental rate, especially in language skills. Other comparative studies have duplicated the results of the Lovaas study and agree that groups of children receiving intense behavioral treatment showed greater group gains in IQ and language than did children in comparison groups.

Although intensive behavior treatment is an emerging therapy with promise and is being implemented in some EI programs and school districts, more studies need to replicate Lovaas' outcomes before it can become a recommended course of action, particularly as an educational intervention. There are other therapies available in the treatment of developmental delay, although they may not be as widely accepted as speech, occupational or physical therapies.⁹⁰

There is a substantial body of research on the treatment and education of children with developmental delay. However, research has not been clearly integrated into educational decision-making and policy at local or state levels. For example, many treatment approaches and demonstration projects have disseminated information, yet most have not yet provided appropriate, scientifically rigorous documentation of effectiveness and efficiency. While research in developmental psychology, child psychiatry, and pediatric neurology has become increasingly well integrated, there is a

need for more effective communication between professionals in these disciplines and the educators and other professionals who carry out the bulk of treatment and intervention-oriented research.⁹¹

- b. If the legislation seeks to mandate coverage of an additional class of practitioners:
 - 1) The results of any professionally acceptable research demonstrating the medical results achieved by the additional class of practitioners relative to those already covered.

Not applicable.

2) The methods of the appropriate professional organization that assure clinical proficiency.

Not applicable.

<u>EFFECTS OF BALANCING THE SOCIAL, FINANCIAL AND MEDICAL EFFICACY</u> CONSIDERATIONS

a. The extent to which the benefit addresses a medical or a broader social need and whether it is consistent with the role of health insurance.

The benefit is consistent with the role of health insurance as it seeks to expand coverage of children with special needs. A study conducted in 1999 concluded that lack of access to services experienced by insured children with special needs could be attributable to inadequate breadth and depth of service coverage. Previous studies which had examined the scope of private health insurance benefits for children with special needs identified gaps in coverage for services, including ancillary therapies, home health care, mental health services and durable medical equipment. Other studies documented low reimbursement levels provided under public programs. 92

The JLARC evaluation cited the 51% affirmative response rate to the BOI survey as evidence that private insurance companies cover some habilitative services for children with developmental delay. The review also indicated that the state's Medicaid plan and the insurance plan for state employees cover a minimum of physical and occupational therapies. 93

There has been a significant rise in the incidence of developmental disabilities in a relatively short span of time. In approximately 10 years, the number of students with ASDs in special education increased by more than 2000%, according to the U. S. Department of Education. ⁹⁴

The JLARC evaluation concludes that this proposed mandate is consistent with the role of insurance because of its overall potential to have a positive impact on public health, encourage preventative treatment, and protect some families from major financial burden for health care costs. The JLARC review stated:

'...with the increasing numbers of children with autism, as indicated by the CDC statistics, there is a growing need for services for children with developmental delays. Furthermore, it appears as many as 28,000 children in special education could potentially benefit from the proposed mandate.' ⁹⁵

Children diagnosed as developmental delay with specific disabilities and their families experience various symptoms, which may be unclear in young children. Also, it is possible that a child with a developmental delay who receives services will not develop a disability; if the same child did not receive services, the delay would become a disability. ⁹⁶

The unique and independent variables associated with diagnosing and treatment therapies for developmental delay challenge parents, medical professionals and the current delivery system because it is difficult to match the exact needs or the expected prognosis on a case-by-case basis. The JLARC evaluation states that the mandate will serve to encourage the treatment of developmental delays earlier in a child's life, thereby potentially reducing the future need for some services and improving the overall health of the child. In addition, for some parents, the cost of providing medically necessary habilitative services is cost prohibitive and the proposed mandate could address their need for financial assistance in paying for these services.⁹⁷

VAHP opposes HB 657 indicating in written comments that rehabilitative services is one of the many benefits added to the insurance industry and marketplace as it has evolved. It argues that habilitative services or treatment should not be a mandated covered benefit because it would require the insurance industry to cover restoration of a capability or individual function for which the individual never had the ability to perform.⁹⁸

The Virginia Chamber of Commerce (VCC) opposes the legislation stating in written comments that mandates, generally, increase the cost of health care and will cause health insurance costs to increase, thereby causing employers to either consider alternatives to offering health insurance as a benefit to employees and dependents or otherwise reduce benefit programs in order to continue some level of health care coverage.

b. The extent to which the need for coverage outweighs the costs of mandating the benefit for all policyholders.

It is difficult to determine if the need for coverage outweighs the costs of mandating benefit for all policyholders because research in this area is lacking comparative data for individual children that would permit analysis of the impact of disability characteristics on expenditures. To date, cost benefits associated with homebased early intensive intervention and center-based early intensive intervention (schools) have not been analyzed with emphasis on (a) level and type of intervention or treatment (b) logistical factors that affect timing, pacing, content, staffing, and organizational performance of the two alternatives.¹⁰⁰

Children with severe disorders or with specific treatment regimens may require several hours of direct or intense therapy. If parents choose to take advantage of those services or therapies recommended by the child's medical doctor or specialist beyond those services offered through early intervention or early childhood special education, coverage may not be available. Despite the federal mandate for appropriate education and intervention services for children between the ages of two and twenty-one, the goals, methods, and resources available vary considerably from state to state and from school system to school system.¹⁰¹

The JLARC evaluation reports although the public school system is obligated to provide therapy to students because it is educationally necessary to have a free, appropriate public education, schools are not obligated to provide all services prescribed by a physician. Other experts in the field of study indicate that most parents are concerned with the level of medically necessary services or habilitative care services which is characteristic of therapeutic intervention. As a result, parents may find themselves in a position of submitting a claim for a medically necessary service a carrier may deny since the school system is providing some therapy. ¹⁰²

The JLARC report indicated that educators must weigh the importance of providing therapies to a student against the educational opportunities lost because the student misses other classes in order to receive certain therapies. Parents and supporters of habilitative services voice their disappointment when recommended services related to developmental delay are sometimes disputed as medical or educational. The DOE corroborated reports of parents' dissatisfaction with the level of service provided their children in school-based programs. ¹⁰³

Opponents believe that the continual mandating of additional benefits is not good public policy and can have the ultimate effect of making health care too costly for individuals and small businesses least able to afford it. The impact is reflected in employers shifting more premium costs to employees or reducing the benefits offered or negotiating deductible levels.

c. The extent to which the need for coverage may be solved by mandating the availability of the coverage as an option for policyholders.

The cost of a mandated offer for coverage would probably be more expensive than a mandate of coverage because of the small population affected. Although supporters agree that some coverage exists, it is uncertain if a mandated option will facilitate access to limited coverage.

RECOMMENDATION

The Advisory Commission voted on November 20, 2006 to recommend against enacting House Bill 657 (Yes- 12, No-1).

CONCLUSION

The Advisory Commission identified three major challenges to recommending House Bill 657. The Advisory Commission expressed concern with defining the scope of the benefit, namely the conditions to be remediated, current service delivery through mechanisms already in place, and the creation of a prudent and appropriate policy.

ENDNOTES

- 1 Danesco, E. R. (1997). Parental beliefs on childhood disability: Insights on culture, child development, and intervention. International Journal of Disability, Development, and Education, 44(1), 41-52. Garcia Coll, C.T. (1990). Developmental outcome of minority infants: A process-oriented look into our beginnings. Child Development, 61(2) 270-289.
- 2, 4, 96 Shevell, M., Ashwal, S., Donley, D., Flint, J., Gingold, M., Hirtz, D., et al., (2003), Practice parameter: Evaluation of the child with global developmental delay [Report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology and The Practice Committee of the Child Neurology Society] Neurology, 2003:60:367-380, retrieved June 19, 2006, Neurology website, http://neurology.org/cgi/content/full/60/3/367.
- 3 J Child Neurol. 2005; 20 (1): 4-21. Developmental Screening; David Rydz, BSc; Michael I. Shevell, MD,CM,FRCPC; Annette Majnemer, OT,PhD; Maryam Oskoui, D,CM., ©2005 BC Decker, Inc.
- 5-8 J Child Neurol. 2005; 20 (1): 4-21. Developmental Screening; David Rydz, BSc; Michael I. Shevell, MD,CM,FRCPC; Annette Majnemer, OT,PhD; Maryam Oskoui, D.CM.. ©2005 BC Decker, Inc.
- 9-11 Centers for Disease Control, National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities, Autism Information Center, www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/dd/aic/about/default.htm, retrieved, 6/3/2005.
- 12 AMERICAN ACADEMY OF PEDIATRICS: PEDIATRICS, Vol. 107 No. 5, May 2001, pp. 1221-1226; The Pediatrician's Role in the Diagnosis and Management of Autistic Spectrum Disorder in Children, retrieved, 6/19/2006. http://aappolicy.aappublications.org/cgi/content/full/pediatrics;107/5/1221.
- 13 Committee on Children With Disabilities (1 May 2001), The Pediatrician's Role in the Diagnosis and Management of Autistic Spectrum Disorder in Children, Pediatrics 107 (5): 1221-1226, http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/cgi/content/full/107/5/e85, retrieved, 6/03/2006.

- 14 California Department of Developmental Services, Autistic Spectrum Disorders: Best Practice Guidelines for Screening, Diagnosing and Assessment,© 2003 California Department of Developmental Services, http://www.ddhealthinfo.org/pdf/ASDquickguide.pdf , retrieved 7/5/2006.
- 15 The Implications of Culture on Developmental Delay; Valdivia, R.; December, 1999, The ERIC Clearinghouse on Disabilities and Gifted Education (ERIC EC); The Council for Exceptional Children, ERIC EC Digest #E589, retrieved from http://ericec.org
 - 16, 60, 66, Personal Communication, Lynne Ganz, O.T.R./L., Inc., June 29, 2006
- 17,18 Personal communication, Carol M. Schall, Ph.D., Director, Virginia Autism Resource Center, 6/22/2006.
- 19 Department of Medicaid Assistance Services, Summary of Covered Medallion II (MEDICAID/FAMIS) Services, www.dmas.virginia.gov/downloads/pdfs/, retrieved 09/14/2005
- 20 Virginia Board for People with Disabilities, Virginia's Disability Services System, Biennial Report, March, 2005, http://www.vaboard.org/biennial.htm, retrieved, 07/27/2005, page 53,55.
- 21 Annual Report on Virginia's Part C Early Intervention System, Report Document No. 194, Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation, and Substance Abuse Services, Publication Year 2005, http://leg2.state.va.us/DLS/h&sdocs.nsf/0/285c0151d9f338cc85256ee8006fc129?OpenDocume nt
- 22 Prizant BM, Schuler AL, Wetherby AM, Rydell P. Enhancing language and communication development: language approaches. In: Cohen DJ, Volkmar FR, eds. Handbook of Autism and Pervasive Developmental Disorders. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Wiley & Sons; 1997:572-605.)
- 23, 58 Virginia Board for People with Disabilities, Virginia's Disability Services System, Biennial Report, March, 2005, http://www.vaboard.org/biennial.htm, retrieved, 07/27/2005, page 74.
- 24 Virginia Board for People with Disabilities, http://www.vaboard.org/downloads/biennial/IIIVBPDBAEducation.doc.
- 25-27 Virginia Department of Education. Regulations Governing Special Education Programs for Children With Disabilities in Virginia, March 27, 2002.
- 28 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention website, http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/child/devtool.htm
- 29, 53 Findings from the Environmental Scan: Virginia Early Childhood Comprehensive Systems Project; DRAFT, 3/10/2006, retrieved 8-24-2006 http://www.vahealth.org/childadolescenthealth/ech/documents/WhitePaperResults3-10-06.pdf

- 30, 54 2004 Annual Performance Report, Infant and Toddler Connection of Virginia, March 2005; www.infantva.org/documents/ovw-OSEPChildFindPublicAwareness.pdf
- 31 A Report on Virginia's Early Intervention System Part C, Budget item 334K, 2004 Appropriations Act, July 1, 2004- June 30, 2005, James S. Reinhard, M.D.
- 32-36 Findings from the Environmental Scan. Virginia Early Childhood Comprehensive Systems Project. Draft 3/10/2006. www.vahealth.org/childadolescenthealth/ech/documents/WhitePaperResults3-10-06.pdf
- 37 An Integrated Policy and Plan to Provide and Improve Access to Mental Health, Mental Retardation and Substance Abuse Services for Children, Adolescents and Their Families (Budget Item 330-F, 2004 Appropriations Act, July 1, 2004- June 30, 2005); James, S. Reinhard, M.D., Commissioner, presented to the Governor and Chairman of the House Appropriations and Senate Finance Committees of the General Assembly
- 38, 40, AMERICAN ACADEMY OF PEDIATRICS: PEDIATRICS, Vol. 107 No. 5, May 2001, pp. 1221-1226; Technical Report: The Pediatrician's Role in the Diagnosis and Management of Autistic Spectrum Disorder in Children, retrieved, 6/19/2006. http://aappolicy.aappublications.org/cgi/content/full/pediatrics;107/5/1221.)
- 39 Tsai LY Brief report: comorbid psychiatric disorders of autistic disorder. J Autism Dev Disord 1996; 26:159-163 [Medline])
- 41 American Academy of Pediatrics, Ad Hoc Task Force on Definition of the Medical Home The medical home. Pediatrics 1992; 90:774 [Medline].
- 42, 43, 65 Personal communication, Carol M. Schall, Ph.D., Director, Virginia Autism Resource Center, 6/22/2006.
- 44 Prizant BM, Schuler AL, Wetherby AM, Rydell P. Enhancing language and communication development: language approaches. In: Cohen DJ, Volkmar FR, eds. Handbook of Autism and Pervasive Developmental Disorders. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Wiley & Sons; 1997:572-605.)
- 45 Layton TL Language training with autistic children using four different modes of presentation. J Commun Disord 1988; 21:333-350 [CrossRef][Medline].
- 46 Bregman JD, Gerdtz J. Behavioral interventions. In: Cohen DJ, Volkmar FR, eds. Handbook of Autism and Pervasive Developmental Disorders. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Wiley & Sons; 1997:606-630. (2) Powers MD. Behavioral assessment of individuals with autism. In: Cohen DJ, Volkmar FR, eds. Handbook of Autism and Pervasive Developmental Disorders. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Wiley & Sons; 1997:448-459)
- 47Gray CA, Garand JD Social stories: improving responses of students with autism with accurate social information. Focus Autistic Behav 1993; 8:1-10)
- 48 Wetherby A, Prizant B. Facilitating language and communication development in autism: assessment and intervention guidelines. In: Zager DB, ed. Autism: Identification, Education, and Treatment., 2nd ed. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum; 1999).

- 49 Schopler E, Mesibov G, Baker A Evaluation of treatment for autistic children and their parents. J Am Acad Child Psychiatry 1982; 21:262-267 [Medline].
- 50 Annual Report on Virginia's Part C Early Intervention System, Report Document No. 194, Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation, and Substance Abuse Services, Publication Year 2005, http://leg2.state.va.us/DLS/h&sdocs.nsf/0/285c0151d9f338cc85256ee8006fc129?OpenDocument
- 51 COST COMPARISON OF STUDENTS RECEIVING SPECIAL EDUCATION VS. STUDENTS NOT RECEIVING SPECIAL EDUCATION, revised August 5, 2002, retrieved on 9/12/2006, http://141.104.22.210/VDOE/Instruction/Sped/compare expend.pdf.
- 52 Fox, HB., McManus, MA., Reichman, MB; The Strengths and Weaknesses of Private Health Insurance Coverage for Children with Special health care Needs, January , 2002; retrieved on August 15, 2006 from website www.mchpolicy.org)
- 55, 68, 77, 78, 93, 95, 97, 103 Joint Legislative Audit Review Commission of the Virginia general Assembly, Evaluation of proposed Mandated Health Insurance benefits. Evaluation of house Bill 657: Mandated Coverage of Habilitative Services for Children with Developmental Delays, October 2006.).
- 56, 83 National Health Policy Forum. Background Paper. Peters, C.P., Consultant. (2005, June 25). Children with Special HealthCare Needs: Minding the Gaps. http://www.nhpf.org/pdfs_bp/BP_CSHCN_06-27-05.pdf), retrieved June 26, 2006.
- 57 President New Freedom Commission on Mental Health, Achieving the Promise: Transforming Mental Health Care in America. Final Report. DHHS Pub. No. SMA-03-3832. Rockville, MD: 2003, retrieved from www.mentalhealthcommission.gov
- 59, 62, 67,79, 98 Written testimony, Virginia Association of Health Plans, October 2, 2006
- 61 The Commission on Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education, Lord, C. & McGee, J. P. (Ed.s) (2001.) Educating Children with Autism. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; on-line at http://www.nap.edu/books/0309072697/html/)
- 63, 64, 84,85 "The Costs of Autism," Understanding Autism: From Basic Neuroscience to Treatment, Michael Ganz, CRC Press, 2006).
- 69, 70, 75, 94 Educational Services for Students with Autism. Dr. Patricia Abrams, Department of Education, Joint Commission on Health Care, Behavioral Health Care Subcommittee, Decision Matrix, November 9, 2006
- 71,72 Joint Commission on Health Care, Resolution Nos. 96 and 125, retrieved from http://legis.state.va.us/jchc/legislat.htm#2006

- 73 State of the Commonwealth in Autism: Analysis of "Autism Problem" from a Virginia Perspective; Carol Schall, Ph.D., Virginia Autism Resource Center; Joint Commission on Health Care, Behavioral Health Care Subcommittee, Decision Matrix, November 9, 2006.
 - 74, 102 Personal Communication, Lynne Ganz, O.T.R./L., Inc., October 3, 2006
- 76 Autism, Spectrum Disorders: A Brief Descriptive, Susan K. Williams, PhD., Va. Treatment Center for Children; Joint Commission on Health Care, Behavioral Health Care Subcommittee, Decision Matrix, November 9, 2006).
- 80 Dawson G, Osterling J. Early intervention in autism. In: Guralnick MJ, ed. The Effectiveness of Early Intervention. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co; 1997:307-326; Smith T, Lovaas OI Intensive and early behavioral intervention with autism: the UCLA young autism project. Infants Young Child 1998; 10:67-78).
- 82, 99 The Virginia Chamber of Commerce, Correspondence to the Special Advisory Commission on Mandated Benefits, dated 11/8/2006.
- 86, 87, 88, 89, 90 AMERICAN ACADEMY OF PEDIATRICS: PEDIATRICS, Vol. 107 No. 5, May 2001, pp. 1221-1226; Technical Report: The Pediatrician's Role in the Diagnosis and Management of Autistic Spectrum Disorder in Children, retrieved, 6/19/2006. http://aappolicy.aappublications.org/cgi/content/full/pediatrics;107/5/1221.)
- 81, 91 Educating Children with Autism, 2001, Committee on Educational Interventions for Children with Autism; Catherine Lord and James P. McGee, Editors; Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education; National Research Council; NATIONAL ACADEMY PRESS; Washington, DC).
- 92 PEDIATRICS: Vol 105, No.4, April 2000 pp. 760-766, Access to Health care for Children wih Special Health care Needs)
- 100 Silverstein, Robert, (2000) Emerging Disability Policy Framework: A Guidepost for Analyzing Public Policy [Electronic version]. Center for the Study and Advancement of Disability Policy (CSADP); 85 Iowa L. REV. 1691.
- 101 The Commission on Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education, Lord, C. & McGee, J. P. (Ed.s) (2001.) Educating Children with Autism. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; on-line at http://www.nap.edu/books/0309072697/html/)